RECEIVED

Feb 24 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

On Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Common Pleas
Appeal from Spartanburg County
Honorable Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2023-000378

GABRIEL RIOS,

Respondent,

vs.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Petitioner.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON CERTIORARI

Did the post-conviction relief judge reversibly err by granting a new trial based on newly-discovered evidence when the specific newly-discovered evidence involved, which consisted of an allegation an investigator involved in Rios's home invasion case committed misconduct when seeking a search warrant years after Rios's trial in a totally-unrelated case, merely could have been used as impeachment evidence and was not material to Rios's guilt or innocence and, thus, was not sufficient to satisfy the well-established legal requirements that must be met in order for a new trial based on newly-discovered evidence to be warranted?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In August of 2010, Respondent Gabriel Rios was arrested following an investigation into a home invasion that occurred earlier on the same date. In November of 2010, the Spartanburg County Grand Jury indicted Rios for first-degree burglary, armed robbery, kidnapping, first-degree assault and battery, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, and grand larceny. On February 26, 2013, a jury trial was commenced on all the indicted charges except grand larceny in the Spartanburg County Court of General Sessions with the Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, circuit court judge, presiding. At the conclusion of the three-day trial, the jury convicted Rios as indicted. Following the verdict, Judge McIntosh sentenced Rios to concurrent terms of imprisonment of forty years for first-degree burglary, thirty years for armed robbery, thirty years for kidnapping, and ten years for first-degree assault and battery along with a consecutive term of imprisonment of five years for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. Rios then timely filed and perfected an appeal.

On appeal, the Court of Appeals—following briefing—unanimously affirmed Rios’s convictions through an unpublished opinion. State v. Rios, Op. No. 2015-UP-135 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Mar. 11, 2015). Thereafter, on April 10, 2015, remittitur was issued.

Subsequent to the issuance of the remittitur, Rios timely filed an application for post-conviction relief (“PCR”), and, in response, the State filed a return requesting an evidentiary hearing. On January 30, 2017, an evidentiary hearing was conducted in the Spartanburg County Court of Common Pleas with the Honorable Edward W. Miller, circuit court judge, presiding. At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Miller denied the application, and that ruling was later confirmed through an order filed on March 27, 2017. Rios then timely filed a motion to alter or amend pursuant to Rule 59(e) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, and Judge Miller

again denied relief through an amended order of dismissal filed on June 29, 2017. Once again, Rios then timely filed and perfected an appeal.

On appeal, the matter was transferred to the Court of Appeals, and the Court of Appeals denied Rios's petition for a writ of certiorari. Roughly two weeks later, remittitur was issued.

Following that, on July 17, 2019, Rios submitted another PCR application raising—amongst other things—a claim predicated upon newly-discovered evidence. A little over a month later, Rios submitted a document entitled “Amended P.C.R. Supplement.”¹ Thereafter, on October 15, 2020, Rios filed a petition for a writ of mandamus with the Supreme Court. Following a request for a return, the State submitted both a return to the petition for a writ of mandamus and a return, motion to dismiss, and motion to file out of time in connection to Rios's second PCR application.

¹ Around the same time, Rios submitted a petition for a writ of habeas corpus in the United States District Court for the District of South Carolina predicated—in part—upon a claim of newly-discovered evidence, and the State responded by filing a return and motion for summary judgment. On May 19, 2020, the Honorable Shiva V. Hodges, United States Magistrate Judge, issued a report and recommendation recommending the State's motion for summary judgment be granted and Rios's petition be dismissed with prejudice. Rios v. Williams, No. CV 1:19-2329-SAL-SVH, 2020 WL 5984694 (D.S.C. May 19, 2020), report and recommendation adopted, No. 1:19-CV-02329-SAL, 2020 WL 3958262 (D.S.C. July 13, 2020). In offering such a recommendation, the magistrate judge found Rios's newly-discovered evidence claim lacked merit as the “arrest and firing [of Investigator Lorin Williams] occurred almost a decade after the events in question in this case and occurred in connection to a case unrelated to” Rios's. Id. Subsequently, on July 13, 2020, the Honorable Sherri A. Lydon, United States District Judge, issued an order accepting the report and recommendation in its entirety, granting the State's motion for summary judgment, and denying Rios's petition with prejudice. Rios v. Williams, No. 1:19-CV-02329-SAL, 2020 WL 3958262 (D.S.C. July 13, 2020). In doing so, Judge Lydon noted Rios's “newly-discovered evidence [wa]s entirely unrelated to [his] case” and he “failed to present any evidence that documents were falsified or that there was otherwise inappropriate behavior by the investigator in his case.” Id. Following that ruling, Rios sought reconsideration or amendment, and his motion was denied on October 5, 2020. Rios v. Williams, No. 1:19-CV-02329-SAL, 2020 WL 6588551 (D.S.C. Oct. 5, 2020). Rios then attempted to appeal from those rulings, but the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals declined to issue a certificate of appealability and dismissed Rios's appeal through an unpublished per curiam opinion issued on April 20, 2022. Rios v. Williams, No. 20-7667, 2022 WL 1172168 (4th Cir. Apr. 20, 2022).

On April 5, 2021, a virtual hearing was conducted in connection to the State's motion to dismiss in the Spartanburg County Court of Common Pleas with the Honorable Grace Gilchrist Knie, circuit court judge, presiding. At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Knie took the matter under advisement, and she subsequently denied the State's motion through an order issued on April 26, 2021.

Thereafter, on October 18, 2022, another evidentiary hearing was conducted in the Spartanburg County Court of Common Pleas with the Honorable Brian M. Gibbons, circuit court judge, presiding. At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Gibbons took the matter under advisement. Subsequent to that, Judge Gibbons issued an order on January 6, 2023, granting Rios's request for a new trial based on newly-discovered evidence. The State then timely filed a motion to reconsider, and a hearing was held on the motion on February 13, 2023, in the Spartanburg County Court of Common Pleas with Judge Gibbons again presiding. At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Gibbons declined to reconsider his earlier ruling, and he confirmed that ruling through a written order issued later on the same date. The State then timely filed a notice of appeal.

After initiating the appeal, the State filed a petition for a writ of certiorari in the Supreme Court, and the Supreme Court transferred the matter to the Court of Appeals. Subsequently, on February 21, 2025, the Court of Appeals granted the State's petition.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Summary of Rios's Crimes and the Evidence Discovered During the Ensuing Investigation

On the morning of August 14, 2010, Gail Holt ("Victim") was in bed at her residence located in Spartanburg, South Carolina, with only her daughter's dog—a small terrier—there to keep her company. (App'x p. 109; pp. 145-146). By that point, her husband, Phillip Holt ("Phillip"), had already headed out earlier that morning to go to work. (App'x p. 109; p. 150).

Around 7:30 a.m., Victim woke up for the day. (App'x p. 109). A little bit after that, Victim began preparing to take the dog outside, and, as she did, she was startled by what sounded like glass breaking in the home.² (App'x pp. 109-110). Shockingly, when she went to investigate the sound, she ran into an unmasked man in her hallway that she *immediately* recognized as "Gabe," an individual who had done contracting work for her husband's company on and off in the past and whom she had been around on multiple earlier occasions. (App'x pp. 109-111; pp. 150-152; p. 158).

Upon unexpectedly encountering one another, "Gabe," who had no legitimate reason to be inside the Holts' residence at the time, quickly grabbed Victim, forced her to turn around, and put something sharp up to her neck. (App'x p. 111; p. 156). He then forced Victim into her husband's office, directed her to open the closet, and demanded she open the safe hidden inside. (App'x pp. 111-112). However, Victim did not know the safe's combination, and she relayed that information to "Gabe." (App'x pp. 112-113).

Upon learning he would not be able to gain access to the safe, "Gabe" aggressively and hurriedly forced Victim to her bedroom and ordered her to get onto the floor. (App'x pp. 113-114). Victim complied with his commands, and "Gabe" bound her hands behind her back with

² Later on during trial, Victim explained the incident occurred at some point between 7:30 a.m. and 8:00 a.m. (App'x p. 118).

tape.³ (App’x pp. 113-114). Once Victim was secured, “Gabe” then retrieved Phillip’s handgun from a nearby holster and demanded Victim’s purse at gunpoint. (App’x pp. 113-114; p. 153). Following that, “Gabe” proceeded to steal cash from Victim’s purse, some of her jewelry, her cell phone, and her car keys. (App’x p. 115). He then absconded from the scene in Victim’s car and took Phillip’s handgun along with him. (App’x pp. 115-116; p. 153).

After she was sure “Gabe” was gone, Victim broke free from her bindings. (App’x p. 116). She then quickly called her husband in a panic and alerted him of what had occurred. (App’x p. 151). In response, he called the police and rushed home. (App’x p. 151; p. 132).

A short time later, Deputy David Welch from the Spartanburg County Sheriff’s Office arrived at the Holts’ home, and he initially spoke with Phillip, who was not present at the time of the incident and indicated he did not know who the perpetrator was at that time. (App’x p. 132; p. 151; p. 266). Deputy Welch then spoke with Victim, who provided a description of her assailant. (App’x pp. 266-267). However, at that time, she apparently did not provide her assailant’s name. (App’x p. 142; p. 268).

A little bit after that, Investigator Lorin Williams of the Spartanburg County Sheriff’s Office arrived on scene, and he, too, spoke with Victim about what had occurred. (App’x pp. 177-178). During that conversation, Victim, who was still very upset, identified the perpetrator as “Gabe” and explained he had worked for her husband in the past. (App’x p. 133; p. 142; pp. 179-180; p. 192). Investigator Williams then spoke with Phillip, who confirmed “Gabe” was actually Rios. (App’x p. 185). Based on that, Investigator Williams obtained a computer-generated photographic lineup containing a number of photos, including one of Rios. (App’x p.

³ “Gabe” used painter’s tape to bind Victim’s hands, and the Holts had the exact same kind of tape stored in their home at the time of the incident. (App’x p. 154; p. 159). Notably, Rios had been to the Holts’ home at some point prior to the incident to perform work that included painting. (App’x p. 110).

180). He then showed that lineup to Victim within just a few hours of the incident, and she rapidly identified Rios as the perpetrator without any hesitation. (App’x pp. 133-136; p. 140; pp. 147-148; pp. 180-183).

As the investigation into the incident continued, Rios was tracked down and arrested later on the same date. (App’x pp. 183-184). A few hours after that, Victim’s vehicle was found abandoned roughly a quarter of a mile away from where Rios was apprehended. (App’x pp. 189-190). Subsequent to his arrest, Rios’s fingerprints were collected and compared to a fingerprint found on a triangular shard of glass recovered from the Holts’ home after the incident. (App’x p. 227; p. 229). Unsurprisingly, the fingerprint from the glass shard was determined to be a match for Rios’s right thumbprint. (App’x pp. 236-237; p. 240; p. 243).

Relevant Details from Rios’s Trial

Toward the outset of Rios’s ensuing trial on charges—including first-degree burglary, armed robbery, and kidnapping—that stemmed from the incident, defense counsel moved to suppress the evidence related to Victim’s identification of Rios as the individual who committed the home invasion in August of 2010. (App’x p. 10; p. 20; pp. 27-38; pp. 40-43; p. 48; pp. 52-53; pp. 565-574). However, after conducting an in limine hearing on the matter, the trial judge denied that motion. (App’x p. 50; pp. 52-53).

As the trial proceeded forward, Victim recounted the terrifying details of her experiences on the date of the incident, identified Rios as the person who broke into her home and robbed her, and expressed complete certainty in that identification. (App’x pp. 108-148). In addition to her testimony, Phillip testified about his own experiences on the date of the incident, and he confirmed Rios was known as “Gabe,” had worked for him in the past for a number of years, had been around Victim as a result of that work, and had even helped install the safe at their

residence. (App'x pp. 150-163). Likewise, Investigator Williams testified about his response to the incident, Victim's identification of the perpetrator as "Gabe," and her subsequent identification of Rios from the photographic lineup he presented to her. (App'x pp. 177-192). Regarding that verbal identification, Investigator Williams explained Victim made it without hesitation and without any suggestion from anyone. (App'x pp. 181-183). Furthermore, testimony was presented about the discovery of Rios's fingerprint on the shard of glass recovered at the crime scene and about the discovery of Victim's stolen vehicle in close proximity to where Rios was taken into custody. (App'x pp. 184-185; p. 212; p. 229; pp. 236-237; p. 240; p. 243).

Once that testimony and evidence was presented, the State rested its case, and Rios elected not to testify in his own defense. (App'x p. 256; pp. 259-260). However, defense counsel did present testimony from Deputy Welch establishing neither Phillip nor Victim identified the perpetrator by name when he first spoke with them after the incident. (App'x pp. 266-268). Likewise, Estar Byrd, a resident of Spartanburg, testified on behalf of the defense and indicated she did not actually know Rios. (App'x pp. 269-270). However, Byrd further stated she did let Rios use her home phone from time to time in August of 2010 after he asked her if she would permit him to receive calls on it, but she indicated she did not have any recollection of seeing Rios on the date of the incident. (App'x pp. 269-272). In addition to that, Rios's wife, Sonia Rios ("Sonia"), attempted to offer an alibi for Rios. (App'x pp. 273-281). In doing so, Sonia, who had previously been convicted of giving false information to law enforcement a few years before the incident, claimed Rios was living with her in August of 2010 but was "[s]taying at [Byrd's] house" on the date of the incident, Rios called her that morning around 7:25 a.m. using Byrd's phone, and Rios spoke with her for some unspecified period of time. (App'x p. 273; pp. 278-279; p. 281). Following the presentation of that claim, Curtis Jones, an investigator

for the Seventh Circuit Public Defender’s Office, testified about his own personal experiments travelling from Byrd’s house to the Victim’s address, and he alleged it took him roughly sixteen minutes to get from one location to the other. (App’x pp. 282-284).

Following the presentation of that testimony and evidence, the defense rested, and the parties presented their closing arguments to the jury. (App’x p. 285; pp. 305-326). As part of his closing argument, defense counsel—amongst other things—vigorously challenged the reliability of Victim’s identification of Rios as the perpetrator by pointing out neither she nor Phillip initially named him to law enforcement despite Victim claiming to have immediately recognized him as the home invader as the incident was occurring. (App’x pp. 308-309). Ultimately though, the jury convicted Rios as indicted. (App’x p. 352; pp. 370-371).

Summary of the Most-Recent Post-Conviction Relief Proceedings in Rios’s Case

Following an unsuccessful appeal, an unsuccessful attempt to obtain a new trial through the filing of his first PCR action, and an unsuccessful appeal of the denial of relief, Rios initiated a successive PCR action in July of 2019. (App’x pp. 383-441; pp. 484-485; pp. 490-534; pp. 548-564; pp. 575-592; pp. 615-643). Through that successive action, Rios claimed he was entitled to a new trial based on—amongst other things—newly-discovered evidence. (App’x pp. 620-621). More specifically, Rios contended he now had evidence establishing Investigator Williams was fired in January of 2019—which was more than eight years after the incident and more than five years after Rios’s trial—for allegedly falsifying documents to frame defendants and obtain warrants. (App’x pp. 626-627). Based on that, Rios surmised Investigator Williams “clearly framed” him, too, and must have convinced Victim to accuse him of being the culprit. (App’x pp. 626-627). And, as support for that claim, Rios included print-outs of several news stories that indicated: (1) Investigator Williams had been fired from the Spartanburg County

Sheriff's Office based on an accusation he used false information about a confidential informant to obtain a search warrant on January 11, 2019; (2) no criminal charges had been filed against him as a result of the allegation; and (3) an investigation and review of his work in earlier cases was being initiated due to the nature of the allegation involved. (App'x pp. 637-639). Through one of his filings, Rios also presented a letter from Solicitor Barry J. Barnette providing the following summary of the basis for Investigator Williams's termination:

"On January 11, 2019 you (Inv. Williams) were issued a search warrant on CRI information. This warrant was executed on January 15, 2019. In the affidavit, you swore to the facts that the information came from a confidential reliable informant and this CRI had provided information in the past to law enforcement that has been verified as truthful and has led to the seizure of illegal narcotics as well as the arrest of persons involved in illegal narcotics sales. This is not accurate, as this person claimed to be a CI was never signed up for that purpose. You neglected to confirm this information before using this person's information to secure a search warrant.

This is a serious violation of Sheriff's Office Policy and has potential for other serious repercussions. It is a very unfortunate situation as this is going to result in the termination of your employment. The SO is also required to report this to the SCCJA and your certification is in jeopardy."

(App'x p. 656).

In response to Rios's newly-discovered evidence claim, an evidentiary hearing was conducted. (App'x p. 702). At the outset of that hearing, PCR counsel noted Investigator Williams had been involved in Rios's case and had later been fired for presenting false evidence to a magistrate to obtain a warrant. (App'x p. 702). Based on that, PCR counsel indicated Rios was alleging Investigator Williams fraudulently coerced Victim into identifying him and they intended to attempt to prove the identification was falsely given. (App'x pp. 702-703).

As the hearing proceeded forward, Rios testified on his own behalf. (App’x pp. 704-720). During his testimony, Rios acknowledged he had been to the Holts’ house in the past and confirmed they knew him and would be able to recognize him instantly. (App’x p. 705). However, due to their failure to identify him in the 911 call placed by Phillip, he opined Investigator Williams must have suggested or given his name to Victim as the perpetrator. (App’x pp. 705-713; p. 718). As to how he arrived at such a conclusion, Rios explained:

Well, we know that [Investigator Williams] would breach his duty to tell the truth under oath. He -- he will go in front of Your Honor and -- and breach his duty to get a warrant from Your Honor to have people arrested, convicted, and sentenced to prison. He has a track record of this; that’s why we are going back now, 20 years, on all of his cases. This man . . . credibility cannot be -- it’s no good in a court of law or in anywhere, because we -- when he ain’t, because he’s known to breach his duties and they terminated him from the Spartanburg County Sheriff . . . Office doing so.

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