**RECEIVED**

**Apr 17 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Certiorari to Spartanburg County

Honorable Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

---

GABRIEL JON RIOS,

RESPONDENT

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-000378

---

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

LARA M. CAUDY  
Senior Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

**

### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Did the post-conviction relief court correctly grant Respondent a new trial based on newly discovered evidence where Respondent learned years after his trial that the lead investigator in his case, Lorin Williams, was fired from the Spartanburg County Sheriff's Office for using false information to obtain a search warrant in an unrelated case and when this evidence supported other evidence that Williams procured an unreliable identification of Respondent as the intruder during his investigation of the burglary in this case, since Respondent presented evidence that satisfied the five factor newly discovered evidence test?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Spartanburg County grand jury indicted Respondent on November 24, 2010 for first degree burglary, armed robbery, kidnapping, first degree assault and battery, grand larceny, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. App. 566-574. His case was called to trial on February 26, 2013 before the Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, and a jury.<sup>1</sup> App. 1. Timi Poulos and Russell Ghent represented the state. App. 1. Matthew Shealy represented Respondent. App. 1. The jury found Respondent guilty as indicted. App. 370, l. 18 – 371, l. 15. He was sentenced to forty years for first degree burglary, thirty years for armed robbery, thirty years for kidnapping, ten years for first degree assault and battery, and five years to be served consecutively for the weapons offense. App. 378, ll. 11-22. The aggregate sentence is forty-five years' imprisonment.

The Court of Appeals affirmed Respondent's convictions and sentence. State v. Rios, Op. No. 2015-UP-135 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Mar. 11, 2015). Kathrine H. Hudgins represented Respondent. Jenny Draffin Smith represented the state.

On June 3, 2015, Respondent filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 426. The state filed a return to this application dated February 11, 2016. App. 434-439. An evidentiary hearing was convened on January 30, 2017, before the Honorable Edward W. Miller. App. 440. Susannah Ross represented Respondent. App. 440. Caitlin Hastings represented the state. App. 440. By order filed March 27, 2017, the PCR court denied Respondent relief. On April 11, 2017, Respondent filed a motion to alter or amend the judgment. App. 531-536. The state filed a return dated April 17, 2017. App. 541-543. On July 29, 2017, the PCR court filed

---

<sup>1</sup> The state chose not to try Respondent for grand larceny. The grand larceny indictment was dismissed on February 28, 2013. App. 563.

an amended order of dismissal thereby denying the motion to alter or amend the judgment. App. 544-564.

On January 16, 2018, Respondent filed a petition for writ of certiorari with our Supreme Court. App. 575-592. The state filed a return on July 2, 2018. App. 593-614. By order dated July 16, 2018, the Supreme Court transferred the appeal to this Court pursuant to Rule 243(1), SCACR. This Court denied the petition for writ of certiorari by order dated April 10, 2019. App. 615. The remittitur was issued on April 26, 2019.

On July 17, 2019, Respondent filed a second application for post-conviction relief alleging newly discovered evidence. App. 618-632. On August 19, 2019, Respondent filed an amended application. App. 633-643. The state filed a return and a motion to dismiss Respondent's application on February 10, 2021. App. 659-667. With the assistance of counsel, Respondent filed a second amended application on March 25, 2021. App. 676-677. A hearing was held on the state's motion to dismiss on April 5, 2021, before the Honorable Grace Knie. App. 678. Chelsey Marto represented the state. Rodney Richey represented Respondent. App. 678. By order filed April 26, 2021, Judge Knie denied the state's motion to dismiss and ordered an evidentiary hearing be held on the allegations raised in Respondent's second PCR application. App. 695-696.

An evidentiary hearing was held on October 18, 2022, before the Honorable Brian M. Gibbons. App. 698. Chelsey Marto represented the state. Rodney Richey represented Respondent. App. 698. By order filed January 6, 2023, Judge Gibbons granted Respondent post-conviction relief. App. 756-761.

On January 17, 2023, the state filed a motion to reconsider, alter, or amend pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCR. App. 762-769. On February 13, 2023, a hearing was held before Judge

Gibbons on the state's motion.<sup>2</sup> App. 770. At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Gibbons denied the motion. He concluded Respondent is entitled to a new trial. App. 782, ll. 3-23. The judge memorialized his ruling in a written order filed February 14, 2023. App. 785.

The state timely filed a notice of appeal with the Supreme Court. The petition for writ of certiorari was filed on November 1, 2023. Respondent filed a return to the petition for writ of certiorari on March 14, 2024. By order filed April 3, 2024, the Supreme Court transferred the appeal to this Court pursuant to Rule 243(1), SCACR. This Court granted certiorari and ordered further briefing by order filed February 21, 2025. The state filed its brief of petitioner on February 24, 2025.

This brief of respondent follows.

---

<sup>2</sup> The cover of the transcript erroneously lists Judge Knie as the presiding judge. However, the hearing was held before Judge Gibbons.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Gail Holt woke up shortly before 7:30 on the morning of Saturday, August 14, 2010. After being awake “for a little bit,” Gail heard glass breaking. When she went to investigate, she encountered a man in her hallway. App. 107, l. 1 – 108, l. 3. Gail claimed she “immediately” recognized the individual as Gabe, a man who had previously worked for her husband both at his business and in the Holts’ home. App. 108, l. 4 – 109, l. 10. The man “held a sharp object” to her neck and forced her down the hall to her husband’s office. He demanded Gail open the safe stored in the closet. App. 109, l. 16 – 111, l. 16. When she was unable to open the safe, the man forced her into the master bedroom where he ordered her to lie down on the ground. He taped her hands behind her back. The man stole a gun from the bedroom and cash, a cell phone, and car keys from Gail’s purse. He then left in Gail’s car. App. 111, l. 14 – 114, l. 6. Gail freed her hands from the tape in “a few minutes” and then called her husband, Phil Holt. App. 114, ll. 4-14.

Phil Holt was working on a roof when his wife called him “hysterical.” He immediately got off the roof, got in his truck, and drove home. On the way, he called 911. Phil told the dispatcher that “somebody” had broken into his house, tied up his wife, and robbed them. He suggested the police “get there quickly.” He then hung up and called his wife back. App. 148, l. 23 – 149, l. 23.

Phil arrived home before the police got there. The 911 dispatcher called Phil back to try to obtain more information. Gail can be heard in the background of the recording. The dispatcher asked, “**Who is he? Do you know who he was?**” Phil responded, “**Don’t know.**” Applicant’s Exhibit No. 1 (CD of 911 Call) (emphasis added).<sup>3</sup>

---

<sup>3</sup> The recording of the 911 call was not admitted or published at trial. Respondent alleged during his first PCR action that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to admit the 911 call to impeach Gail Holt’s testimony that she “immediately” recognized Respondent.

Deputy David Welch with the Spartanburg County Sheriff's Office was the first officer to arrive at the Holts' residence. He spoke to Phil Holt first. Phil did not know who the perpetrator was "at the time." Welch then spoke to Gail Holt. Gail described the perpetrator as "a black male, middle aged, with a ball cap." Gail did not tell Welch she knew the perpetrator nor did she name him.<sup>4</sup> App. 264, l. 6 – 266, l. 2.

Investigator Lorin Williams responded to the Holts' residence sometime after Deputy Welch. Gail Holt told Williams what happened and described the intruder. Williams testified that Gail eventually told him the intruder was Gabe, a man who had worked for her husband. Gail told Williams she had seen Gabe on "numerous occasions." App. 178, l. 1 – 180, l. 8. However, Williams wrote in his report that Phil Holt was the first person to name Respondent. Williams could not remember at the time of trial who was the first person to tell him Gail identified Respondent as the perpetrator or when he was first told Respondent was allegedly the perpetrator. App. 185, l. 16 – 186, l. 1.

That same day, Williams created a photographic lineup that included Respondent's photograph. He showed the lineup to Gail and Gail identified Respondent as the person she knew as Gabe who previously worked for her husband. App. 180, l. 9 – 181, l. 21; See App. 640.

Law enforcement determined the point of entry was the door from the carport into the kitchen. A windowpane from this door was broken and there was shattered glass on the floor. App. 194, l. 25 – 195, l. 16. A latent fingerprint lifted from a piece of the shattered glass allegedly matched Respondent's right thumb. App. 236, l. 4 – 240, l. 23. However, Phil Holt testified that

---

<sup>4</sup> Notably, the state did not call Deputy Welch as a witness despite the fact that he was the first responding officer. This is likely because Gail Holt did not tell Welch she recognized the intruder. She merely provided a vague description of the man. Respondent presented Welch's testimony in his defense.

Respondent had previously worked inside the Holts' home painting, roofing, and installing a safe. App. 151, l. 24 – 152, l. 17.

Marie Ollinger, who lived “about seven houses away” from the Holts, went for a walk at 7:30 the morning of the burglary. At the start of her walk, Ollinger noticed an individual she had never seen before walking in the direction of the Holts' residence. She described the individual as an “unremarkable” Black man of “average height.” Ollinger did not identify Respondent as the person she saw in the neighborhood. App. 164, l. 14 – 168, l. 4.

On August 14, 2010, the day of the burglary, Estar Byrd was living on Florida Avenue. She testified that she did not “really” know Respondent, but she let him use her landline phone from “time to time.” App. 269, l. 1 – 271, l. 6. Sonia Rios, Respondent's wife, testified that she received a phone call from her husband on Byrd's landline at 7:25 am on the morning of the burglary. Respondent's counsel at trial attempted to use phone records to verify this testimony but the state strenuously objected arguing the records had not been authenticated. The trial judge ruled the records could be used to refresh the witness's recollection, but could not be admitted unless they were properly authenticated. App. 273, l. 6 – 277, l. 5. Respondent argued during his first PCR action that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to properly authenticate and admit the phone records, which would have corroborated Rios's testimony. App. 579.

Curtis Jones, an investigator with the Public Defender Office, testified that the Holts' house on Perrin Drive was 5.2 miles from Estar Byrd's house on Florida Avenue and the drive between the two took about sixteen minutes. App. 282, l. 4 – 285, l. 5.

### **Newly Discovered Evidence**

After Respondent's convictions were affirmed on direct appeal and he was denied post-conviction relief, Respondent filed a second PCR application alleging newly discovered

evidence. App. 618-632. In support of his application, Respondent submitted a news article stating Investigator Lorin Williams was fired from the Spartanburg County Sheriff's Office after he used false information to obtain a search warrant. The article further stated that Solicitor Barry Barnette sent a letter to every member of the Spartanburg County Bar Association informing attorneys that his office was reexamining all current and past cases that Williams was involved with. App. 633-643.

With the assistance of counsel, Respondent filed an amended application alleging in part that Investigator Lorin Williams tainted Gail Holt's identification of Respondent as the intruder. App. 676-677. Respondent testified at his evidentiary hearing that he worked for Phillip Holt, including at the Holts' home. He explained that he had also been around Gail Holt many times and that the Holts would be able to "instantly" recognize him based on this relationship. After the Holts' residence was burglarized, Phil Holt called 911. He told the dispatcher that they did not know the intruder. When the first responding deputy arrived at the Holts' house, Gail Holt told the officer the intruder was a Black man with a baseball hat on. Gail did not identify the intruder or tell the first responding deputy that she recognized him.

Respondent maintained that when Investigator Lorin Williams arrived at the Holts' house, "the whole story changed." Suddenly, the Holts identified Respondent as the man who broke into their house despite previously stating they did not know the person. Respondent asserted Williams suggested or mentioned Respondent's name "in some type of way." App. 705, l. 2 – 708, l. 21. He testified that if he (Respondent) was the perpetrator, Gail Holt could and would have identified him initially when asked by the 911 dispatcher and the first responding deputy. App. 710, ll. 13-25.

Respondent explained that Lorin Williams was fired from the Spartanburg County Sheriff's Office after Williams used false information to obtain a search warrant. Respondent maintained that Williams "breached his duty to tell the truth under oath to a judge" and has no credibility. He asserted the identification of him as the perpetrator "was faulty" and Williams conspired to name Respondent as the individual who broke into the Holts' home. App. 711, l. 3 – 712, l. 13. He testified Williams suggested or mentioned his name to the Holts who then went from we do "not know who the person was who committed the act" to "It was Gabriel Rios." App. 716, l. 14 – 718, l. 19.

Lastly, Respondent explained that he "could not contest" Williams's credibility during his first PCR action because he did not know at the time that Williams had been fired and was under investigation.

Matthew Shealy, Respondent's trial counsel, testified that there were "issues" with Gail Holt's identification of Respondent as the intruder. Shealy explained that he called Deputy Welch, the first responding officer, as a witness during trial. App. 738, l. 22 – 739, l. 4. Welch admitted that Gail Holt did not identify Respondent. Rather, she merely described the perpetrator as "a black male, middle aged, with a ball cap." Gail did not tell Welch she knew the perpetrator. See App. 264, l. 6 – 266, l. 2.

Shealy testified that while he did not "see any evidence of fraud on the part of Mr. Lorin Williams" while investigating Respondent's case, he did not know at the time "that Investigator Williams would lie to a judge." App. 738, ll. 17-21.

During the evidentiary hearing, Judge Gibbons listened to the recording of Phil Holt's 911 call several times. See Applicant's Exhibit No. 1 (CD of 911 Call). The judge ultimately granted Respondent post-conviction relief. App. 756-761. After citing to the standard set forth

in State v. Spann, 334 S.C. 618, 619, 513 S.E.2d 98, 99 (1999), the judge found Respondent met his burden of proof. The judge emphasized that Respondent discovered Investigator Lorin Williams had been fired for dishonesty after his trial, appeal, and first post-conviction relief action and the information was not discoverable before trial. He found the evidence is material and not simply cumulative or impeaching. Lastly, the judge concluded “the newly discovered evidence as to Williams’s credibility is of the nature that it could have affected the outcome of the case. The investigator could have been impeached in a way that could have changed the outcome.” App. 760-761.

Judge Gibbons later held a hearing on the state’s motion to alter or amend the judgment. At the conclusion of the hearing, the judge denied the state’s motion. He asserted, “It would be fundamentally fair to Mr. Rios, as well as the State, to try this matter where the jury gets to hear all of the relevant evidence, and that includes evidence that may have been tainted from a government witness.” App. 782, ll. 19-23. He concluded Respondent is entitled to a new trial. App. 782, l. 3.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review in PCR cases depends on the specific issue raised on appeal. Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 180, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018). The appellate court must defer to a PCR court's findings of fact and will uphold them if there is evidence in the record to support them. Id. (citing Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016)). However, the appellate court reviews questions of law de novo, with no deference to the PCR court. Id. at 180-81, 810 S.E.2d at 839 (citing Sellner, 416 S.C. at 610, 787 S.E.2d at 527).

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